

# LUND UNIVERSITY

## Importance of MAPK and PKC in cerebrovascular endothelin receptor changes

Henriksson, Marie

2006

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Henriksson, M. (2006). Importance of MAPK and PKC in cerebrovascular endothelin receptor changes. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Medicine/Emergency Medicine, Lund]. Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
   You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 From the Division of Experimental Vascular Research, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Sweden

## Importance of MAPK and PKC in cerebrovascular endothelin receptor changes

Marie Henriksson, M.Sc



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

#### Academic dissertation

The public defence of this thesis for the degree Doctor of Philosophy in Medicine will, with due permission from the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, take place in Segerfalksalen, Wallenberg Neuroscience Centre, Lund, Sweden on Saturday the  $22^{nd}$  of April 2006 at 10 am.

#### **Faculty opponent**

Professor James McCulloch University of Edinburgh Edinburgh, UK

© Marie Henriksson and respective publishers

Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Sweden         Date of issue         22 April 2006           Author(\$) Marie Henriksson         Sponsoring organization           Title and subtitle Importance of MAPK and PKC in cerebrovascular endothelin receptor changes         Abstract           Endothelin is a vasoactive peptide that exerts its effect through two receptors; the endothelin type A (ETA) and type B (ETB) receptor. The contractile ETA receptor is localized on smooth muscle cells in the vascular wall, while the ETF receptors are mainly situated cells, mediating vascillatation. The endothelin system is involved in several pathophysiological conditions, such as atherosclerosis and ischemic stroke.           Previous studies have shown an upregulation of contractile ETB receptors in the ipsilateral middle corebral attery (MCA) after experimental focal ischemia and a similar upregulation is also seen after organ culture of MCA. Furthermore, studies have shown an involvement of protein kinase C (PKC) and extracellular signal- regulated kinases (ERK) 1/2 in ischemia.           The aim of this thesis was to further elucidate the mechanisms underlying this receptor upregulation is time- dependent, reaching a maximum after 24 hours of organ culture. By adding inhibitors of PKC and ERK1/2 pathways to the culture medium, the ETB receptor upregulation was attenuated.           In the experimental model of ischemia (apper IV-V), we administered PKC and ERK1/2 inhibitors to the rats i conjuction with the ischemic insult. Both inhibitors diministered PKC and ERK1/2 inhibitors to the trats i conjuction with the ischemic insult. Both inhibitors diministered PKC and ERK1/2 inhibitors to the trats i conjuction with the ischemic insult. Both inhibitors diministered PKC and ERK in cerebral aterceasing bra	Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATIO	DN
Sponsoring organization         Author(s)         Marie Henriksson         Title and subtitle         Importance of MAPK and PKC in cerebrovascular endothelin receptor changes         Abstract         Endothelin is a vasoactive peptide that exerts its effect through two receptors; the endothelin type A (ETA) an type B (ETB) receptor. The contractile ETA receptor is localized on smooth muscle cells in the vascular wall, while the ETB receptors are mainly situated on endothelial cells, mediating vasofilatation. The endothelin system is involved in several pathophysiological conditions, such as atherosclerosis and ischemic stroke. Previous studies have shown an upregulation of contractile ETB receptors in the ipsilateral middle cerebral artery (MCA) after experimental focal ischemia and a similar upregulation is also seen after organ culture of MCA. Furthermore, studies have shown an involvement of protein kinase C (PKC) and extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) 1/2 in ischemia.         The aim of this thesis was to further elucidate the mechanisms underlying this receptor upregulation process, both in experimental ischemia and in organ culture of rat MCA.         The results from the organ culture studies (paper I-III) show that the ETB receptor upregulation is time-dependent, reaching a maximum after 24 hours of organ culture. By adding inhibitors of PKC and ERK1/2 pathways to the culture medium, the ETB receptor upregulation may attended.         In the experimental model of ischemia (paper IV-V), we administered PKC and ERK1/2 inhibitors to the rats i conjuction with the ischemic insult. Both inhibitors diminished the ETB receptor responses, as well as decreasing brain damage and improving neurological function.         <	Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University Sweden	Date of issue 22 April 2006	
Author(s)       Marie Henriksson         Title and subtitle       Importance of MAPK and PKC in cerebrovascular endothelin receptor changes         Abstract       Endothelin is a vasoactive peptide that exerts its effect through two receptors; the endothelin type A (ETA) am type B (ETB) receptor. The contractile ETA receptor is localized on smooth muscle cells in the vascular wall, while the ETB receptors are mainly situated on endothelial cells, mediating vasodilatation. The endothelin system is involved in several pathophysiological conditions, such as attensecterosis and ischemic stroke. Previous studies have shown an upregulation of contractile ETB receptors in the ipsilateral middle cerebral artery (MCA) after experimental focal ischemia and a similar upregulation is also seen after organ culture signal-regulated kinases (ERK) 1/2 in ischemia.         The aim of this thesis was to further elucidate the mechanisms underlying this receptor upregulation process, both in experimental ischemia and in organ culture of rat MCA.         The results from the organ culture studies (paper 1-III) show that the ETB receptor upregulation is time-dependent, reaching a maximum after 24 hours of organ culture. By adding inhibitors of PKC and ERK 1/2 phaways to the culture medium, the ETB receptor upregulation as attenuated.         In the experimental model of ischemia (paper IV-V), we administered PKC and ERK 1/2 inhibitors to the rats i conjuction with the ischemic insult. Both inhibitors diminished the ETB receptor responses, as well as decreasing brain damage and improving neurological function.         In conclusion, the results of this thesis may provide a new perspective on possible mechanisms of actions of PKC and ERK in cerebral ischemia.       Eanguage English	onvolsky, oweden	Sponsoring organization	
Title and subtitle       Importance of MAPK and PKC in cerebrovascular endothelin receptor changes         Abstract       Endothelin is a vasoactive peptide that exerts its effect through two receptors; the endothelin type A (ETA) and type B (ETB) receptor. The contractile ETA receptor is localized on smooth muscle cells in the vascular wall, while the ETB receptors are mainly situated on endothelial cells, mediating vasodilatation. The endothelin system is involved in several pathophysiological conditions, such as atherosclerosis and ischemic stroke. Previous studies have shown an upregulation of contractile ETB receptors in the ipsilateral middle cerebral artery (MCA) after experimental focal ischemia and a similar upregulation is also seen after organ culture of MCA. Furthermore, studies have shown an involvement of protein kinase C (PKC) and extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) 1/2 in ischemia.         The aim of this thesis was to further elucidate the mechanisms underlying this receptor upregulation process, both in experimental ischemia and in organ culture of rat MCA.         The results from the organ culture studies (paper I-III) show that the ETB receptor upregulation is time-dependent, reaching a maximum after 24 hours of organ culture. By adding inhibitors of PKC and ERK1/2 pathways to the culture medium, the ETB receptor upregulation was attenuated.         In the experimental model of ischemai (apper IV-V), we administered PKC and ERK 1/2 inhibitors to the rats i conjuction with the ischemic insult. Both inhibitors diminished the ETB receptor responses, as well as decreasing brain damage and improving neurological function.         In conclusion, the results of this thesis may provide a new perspective on possible mechanisms of actions of PKC and ERK in cerebral ischemia.         Supplem	Author(s) Marie Henriksson	_	
Importance of MAPK and PKC in cerebrovascular endothelin receptor changes           Abstract           Endothelin is a vasoactive peptide that exerts its effect through two receptors; the endothelin type A (ETA) and type B (ETB) receptor. The contractile ETA receptor is localized on smooth muscle cells in the vascular wall, while the ETB receptors are mainly situated on endothelial cells, mediating vasodilatation. The endothelin system is involved in several pathophysiological conditions, such as atherosclerosis and ischemic stroke. Previous studies have shown an upregulation of contractile ETB receptors in the ipsilateral middle cerebral attry (MCA) after experimental focal ischemia and a similar upregulation is also seen after organ culture of MCA. Furthermore, studies have shown an involvement of protein kinase C (PKC) and extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) 1/2 in ischemia.           The aim of this thesis was to further elucidate the mechanisms underlying this receptor upregulation process, both in experimental ischemia and in organ culture of rat MCA.           The results from the organ culture studies (paper I-III) show that the ETB receptor upregulation is time-dependent, reaching a maximum after 24 hours of organ culture. By adding inhibitors of PKC and ERK1/2 pathways to the culture medium, the ETB receptor upregulation was thenuated. In the experimental model of ischemia (paper IV-V), we administered PKC and ERK1/2 inhibitors to the rats i conjuction with the ischemic insult. Both inhibitors diminished the ETB receptor responses, as well as decreasing brain damage and improving neurological function.           In conclusion, the results of this thesis may provide a new perspective on possible mechanisms of actions of PKC and ERK in cerebral ischemia.         English           Supplementary bibliographical	Title and subtitle		
Abstract         Endothelin is a vasoactive peptide that exerts its effect through two receptors; the endothelin type A (ETA) and type B (ETB) receptor. The contractile ETA receptor is localized on smooth muscle cells in the vascular wall, while the ETB receptors are mainly situated on endothelial cells, mediating vasodilatation. The endothelin system is involved in several pathophysiological conditions, such as atheroselerosis and ischemic stroke.         Previous studies have shown an upregulation of contractile ETB receptors in the ipsilateral middle cerebral artery (MCA) after experimental focal ischemia and a similar upregulation is also seen after organ culture of MCA. Furthermore, studies have shown an involvement of protein kinase C (PKC) and extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) 1/2 in ischemia.         The aim of this thesis was to further elucidate the mechanisms underlying this receptor upregulation is time-dependent, reaching a maximum after 24 hours of organ culture. By adding inhibitors of PKC and ERK1/2 pathways to the culture medium, the ETB receptor upregulation was attenuated.         In the experimental model of ischemia (paper I-III) show that the ETB receptor responses, as well as decreasing brain damage and improving neurological function.         In conclusion, the results of this thesis may provide a new perspective on possible mechanisms of actions of PKC and ERK in cerebral ischemia.         Key words:       Endothelin, receptor, MCA, ischemia, PKC, MAPK         Classification system and/or index termes (if any):       Isaguage English         ISSN and key title:       ISBN         1652-8220       91-85481-70-X         Recipient's notes       Numbe	Importance of MAPK and PKC in cerebrovascu	ılar endothelin receptor changes	
Key words:       Endothelin, receptor, MCA, ischemia, PKC, MAPK         Classification system and/or index termes (if any):       Ianguage         Supplementary bibliographical information:       Language         ISSN and key title:       ISBN         1652-8220       91-85481-70-X         Recipient's notes       Number of pages         110       Security classification	Abstract Endothelin is a vasoactive peptide that exerts its effect type B (ETB) receptor. The contractile ETA receptor while the ETB receptors are mainly situated on endot system is involved in several pathophysiological come Previous studies have shown an upregulation of contr artery (MCA) after experimental focal ischemia and a MCA. Furthermore, studies have shown an involvem regulated kinases (ERK) 1/2 in ischemia. The aim of this thesis was to further elucidate the me both in experimental ischemia and in organ culture of The results from the organ culture studies (paper I-III dependent, reaching a maximum after 24 hours of org pathways to the culture medium, the ETB receptor up In the experimental model of ischemia (paper IV-V), conjuction with the ischemic insult. Both inhibitors d decreasing brain damage and improving neurological In conclusion, the results of this thesis may provide a mechanisms of actions of PKC and ERK in cerebral i	et through two receptors; the end is localized on smooth muscle of helial cells, mediating vasodilate ditions, such as atherosclerosis a ractile ETB receptors in the ipsil a similar upregulation is also see ent of protein kinase C (PKC) an chanisms underlying this receptor f rat MCA. (1) show that the ETB receptor up gan culture. By adding inhibitors oregulation was attenuated. we administered PKC and ERK iminished the ETB receptor resp function. new perspective on possible schemia.	lothelin type A (ETA) and rells in the vascular wall, ation. The endothelin nd ischemic stroke. ateral middle cerebral in after organ culture of nd extracellular signal- or upregulation process, regulation is time- s of PKC and ERK1/2 1/2 inhibitors to the rats in ponses, as well as
Classification system and/or index termes (if any):          Supplementary bibliographical information:       Language         English       English         ISSN and key title:       ISBN         1652-8220       91-85481-70-X         Recipient's notes       Number of pages         110       Security classification	Key words: Endothelin, receptor, MCA, ischemia, PKC, MAPK		
Supplementary bibliographical information: Supplementary bibliographical information: ISSN and key title: 1652-8220 Recipient's notes Recipient's notes Security classification Language English ISBN 91-85481-70-X Price	Classification system and/or index termes (if any):		
Image: Second	Supplementary bibliographical information:		Language
ISSN and key title: 1652-8220 Recipient's notes Number of pages 110 Security classification	11		Fnglish
1652-8220     91-85481-70-X       Recipient's notes     Number of pages 110       Security classification	ICCNI and how title:		
Recipient's notes Number of pages Price 110 Security classification	1652-8220		13DIN 01.95491 70 X
Recipient's notes Number of pages Price 110 Security classification	1032-8220		91-85481-70-X
Security classification	Recipient's notes	Number of pages 110	Price
		Security classification	

Distribution by (name and address) I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation. Signature Manufacture Date\_\_\_\_\_\_

Signature flama

Date\_

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Original Articles	7
ABBREVIATIONS	8
INTRODUCTION	9
BACKGROUND	
Ischemic stroke	
Vascular pathophysiology	
The endothelin system	
Endothelin	
Endothelin receptors	
Endothelin and ischemic stroke	
Protein kinase C	14
PKC: isoforms and function	14
PKC and ischemic stroke	
МАРК	
MAPK: structure and function	
MAPK and ischemic stroke	
PKC and MAPK in endothelin receptor regulation	
GENERAL METHODS	
A nimal surgery procedure and evaluation (nener IV V)	
Transient middle carebral artery occlusion	<b>20</b> 20
Neurological examination	
Brain damage evaluation	
Myograph experiments (paper LV)	
Molecular techniques	23
Real-time PCR (naner I-III)	23
Immunohistochemistry (naner II-V)	23
FLISA (naner II)	23
Western Blat (naper III)	24
Statistics	24
RESULTS AND COMMENTS	25
Fundathalin recentor unregulation in organ culture (nanor LIII)	25
Time course of the endothelin recentor unregulation	
Intercourse of the endoment receptor upregutation	
PKC	
<i>МАРК</i>	30
Endothelin recentor unregulation in ischemic stroke (naner IV-V)	
Endothelin receptor alterations	32
PKC	
МАРК	

MAJOR CONCLUSIONS	
SVENSK SAMMANFATTNING (SWEDISH SUMMARY)	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
References	
PAPERS I-V	

## **ORIGINAL ARTICLES**

This thesis is based on the following papers:

- I. Henriksson M, Stenman E, Edvinsson L. Intracellular pathways involved in upregulation of vascular endothelin type B receptors in cerebral arteries of the rat. 2003. *Stroke* 34(6):1479-83.
- II. Henriksson M, Xu C, Edvinsson L. Importance of ERK1/2 in upregulation of endothelin type B receptors in cerebral arteries. 2004. *British journal of pharmacology* 142(7):1155-61.
- **III.** Henriksson M, Vikman P, Stenman E, Beg S, Edvinsson L. The role of PKC in cerebrovascular endothelin ET<sub>B</sub> receptor upregulation. 2006. *Submitted manuscript*.
- IV. Henriksson M, Stenman E, Vikman P, Edvinsson L. MEK1/2 inhibition attenuates vascular ET<sub>A</sub> and ET<sub>B</sub> upregulation after cerebral ischemia. 2006. *Submitted manuscript*.
- V. Henriksson M, Stenman E, Vikman P, Edvinsson L. PKC inhibition attenuates vascular ET<sub>B</sub> receptor upregulation and decreases brain damage after cerebral ischemia. 2006. *Manuscript.*

## **ABBREVIATIONS**

ANOVA	analysis of variance	MAPK	mitogen-activated protein
aPKC	atypical PKC		kinase
ATP	adenosine triphosphate	MAPKK	mitogen-activated protein
bFGF	basic fibroblast growth factor		kinase kinase
BMK/ERK	big mitogen-activated protein	MAPKKK	mitogen-activated protein
	kinase/extracellular signal-		kinase kinase kinase
	regulated kinase	MCA	middle cerebral artery
$Ca^{2+}$	calcium ion	MCAO	middle cerebral artery
cAMP	3',5'-cyclic adenosine		occlusion
	monophosphate	mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
cDNA	complementary	$Na^+$	sodium ion
	deoxyribonucleic acid	NF-κB	nuclear factor- κB
Cl	chloride ion	NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
$CO_2$	carbon dioxide	NO	nitric oxide
cPKC	classical PKC	$N_2O$	nitrous oxide (laughing gas)
C-terminal	carboxyl group terminal	nPKC	novel PKC
DAG	1,2-diacylglycerol	N-terminal	amino group terminal
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's	$O_2$	oxygen
	Medium	pCO <sub>2</sub>	partial pressure of carbon
DMSO	dimethyl-sulfoxide		dioxide
ECE	endothelin converting	PCR	polymerase chain reaction
	enzyme	PIP <sub>2</sub>	phosphatidyl inositol
EF-1	Elongation factor-1	PKC	protein kinase C
ERK1/2	extra-cellular signal regulated	PLC	phospholipase C
	kinases 1 and 2	$pO_2$	partial pressure of oxygen
ET-1	endothelin-1	PRK	protein kinase C-related
ET-2	endothelin-2		kinase
ET-3	endothelin-3	RNA	ribonucleic acid
$ET_A$	endothelin receptor type A	S6c	sarafotoxin 6c
$ET_B$	endothelin receptor type B	SAH	subarachnoid hemorrhage
G-protein	guanine nucleotide binding	SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
	protein	S.E.M	standard error of the mean
i.p.	intraperitoneally	TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor- α
IL-1β	interleukin-1β	TTC	2,3,5-triphenyltetrazolium
IP <sub>3</sub>	inositol triphosphate		chloride
JNK	c-jun N-terminal kinase	VEGF	vascular endothelial growth
$K^+$	potassium ion		factor
Μ	mol/liter		
MAP	mean arterial blood pressure		
	-		

### **INTRODUCTION**

Stroke is a serious neurological disease and the third leading cause of death in the western world. In about 12% of the cases, the cause is intracranial hemorrhages, and the remaining 88% represent ischemic strokes.<sup>1</sup> Ischemic stroke is caused by a transient or permanent occlusion of a cerebral artery either by an embolus or by local thrombosis.<sup>2</sup> When an ischemic stroke occurs, detrimental cellular alterations are induced. Many studies have aimed to restore the neuronal cells and thereby promote survival. This approach has so far not resulted in successful therapies for the patients.

In ischemic stroke, there are also modifications in the cells of the blood vessels. For example, levels of endothelin, released by the endothelial cells, are increased. Our group has focused on the vascular changes and has shown an alteration of endothelin receptors in middle cerebral arteries following an experimental ischemic stroke.<sup>3</sup> To be able to examine this phenomenon in detail, we have used organ culture, which produces similar changes.<sup>4</sup>

This thesis aims to further examine the alterations of endothelin receptor expression in middle cerebral arteries, and elucidate the intracellular signalling pathways involved. We find that both PKC and MAPK seem to play important roles in the regulation of the vascular endothelin receptors. This applies to both organ culture and experimental ischemic stroke. The results of this thesis provide new perspectives on the pathophysiology of ischemic stroke and also give a possible explanation for the beneficial effects of treatment with PKC and MAPK inhibitors.

## BACKGROUND

#### **Ischemic stroke**

Ischemic stroke, caused by the obstruction of a cerebral artery, gives rise to a range of pathophysiological events. When the brain is deprived of oxygen and glucose, the membrane potentials of the neurons change rapidly, voltage-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  channels open and excitatory glutamate is released into the extracellular space.<sup>5, 6</sup> The glutamate release results in increased levels of intracellular Na<sup>+</sup>, Cl<sup>-</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup>. The influx of Na<sup>+</sup> and Cl<sup>-</sup> is accompanied by osmotic water uptake which consequently leads to edema. The increased levels of intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  give rise to an activation of numerous enzyme systems, for example proteolytic enzymes that degrade the cytoskeleton, as well as phospholipase A<sub>2</sub> and cyclooxygenase that generates free oxygen radicals. Beside their cell damaging characteristics, free oxygen radicals also trigger inflammation and cell death in the ischemic area.<sup>7-10</sup>

In the immediate vicinity of the occlusion, the ischemia results in a necrotic core. Between the ischemic core and the normal tissue is the penumbra, an area with incomplete ischemia.<sup>11</sup> The penumbra is characterized by low blood flow and metabolism and it is at risk of becoming incorporated in the ischemic core, or at least subjected to selective cell death. The size of the penumbra is determined by the amount of collateral blood vessels in the area. Since the neurons of the penumbra can be salvaged, this area has become a prime target for neuroprotective treatments.<sup>11, 12</sup> However, despite promising results from experimental animal models, clinical studies have yet failed to show significantly beneficial effects.<sup>13-16</sup>

#### Vascular pathophysiology

The vascular pathophysiology after an ischemic stroke can be divided into three phases.<sup>17</sup> In the first acute phase there are hemodynamic and metabolic changes that disrupt the bloodbrain barrier. This is in part due to elevated levels of endothelin-1 (ET-1).<sup>18, 19</sup> ET-1 along with other vasoactive factors, also affects the myogenic tone, which is diminished in the acute phase.<sup>17, 20</sup> Reperfusion after cerebral ischemia results in production of free oxygen radicals, for example hydrogen peroxide and superoxide. Superoxide increases the bloodbrain barrier permeability and disrupts the endothelial cell membranes.<sup>21, 22</sup> The following subacute phase takes place hours to days after the ischemic insult. Here, gene activation of inflammatory mediators such as tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ) and transcription factors such as nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B occurs as a response to the events in the acute phase.<sup>17, 23-25</sup> Furthermore, proteins with angiogenic and consequently protective features like vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) are also expressed during this phase.<sup>26, 27</sup> In the final chronic phase (days to months) both apoptosis and angiogenesis occur in the vessels. Inflammatory mediators induce programmed cell death via the cascade of caspases.

However, there is also a stimulation of VEGF, which in addition to its angiogenic effects, also contributes to endothelial cell survival.<sup>17, 28</sup>

#### The endothelin system

#### Endothelin

In 1985, Hickey and colleagues discovered a new vasoactive peptide, produced by endothelial cells.<sup>29</sup> Three years later, Yanagisawa and colleagues isolated the peptide and named it endothelin (ET).<sup>30</sup>

Subsequent studies showed three different ET genes in the human genome, all coding for peptides of 21 amino acids; the original endothelin-1 (ET-1), endothelin-2 (ET-2) which differs with two amino acids, and endothelin-3 (ET-3) which differs with six amino acids compared to ET-1.<sup>31</sup>

Translation of the ET-1 mRNA results in preproendothelin, a peptide consisting of 212 amino acids.<sup>32</sup> Preproendothelin is converted to bigET-1, which exhibits some vasoactivity.<sup>33</sup> BigET-1 is cleaved by endothelin converting enzymes (ECE) to the mature endothelin peptide.<sup>34, 35</sup> ET-1 is produced primarily in endothelial cells, but is also found in other cell types, such as neurons, epithelial cells and macrophages.<sup>36-38</sup> The production and release of ET-1 is regulated by a range of different stimuli, such as thrombin, angiotensin, vasopressin and shear stress.<sup>39-41</sup> Interestingly, the sarafotoxins, a group of cardiotoxic peptides isolated from the venom of the burrowing asp, resemble the structure and function of ET-1.<sup>42, 43</sup> They are able to activate the endothelin receptors, and sarafotoxin 6c (S6c) which we have used in the present investigations is a selective endothelin receptor type B (ET<sub>B</sub>) agonist.

#### Endothelin receptors

There are two endothelin receptors in the vasculature of mammals, the endothelin receptor type A (ET<sub>A</sub>) and the ET<sub>B</sub> receptor. Both are G-protein coupled receptors and both are found on the smooth muscle cells of the vasculature mediating contraction, albeit the ET<sub>A</sub> receptor in abundance.<sup>4, 44, 45</sup> Interestingly enough, there is an upregulation of contractile ET<sub>B</sub> receptors in several cardiovascular diseases such as atherosclerosis,<sup>46, 47</sup> pulmonary hypertension,<sup>48</sup> ischemic heart disease<sup>49</sup> as well as after organ culture of isolated arteries.<sup>4</sup> The ET<sub>A</sub> and ET<sub>B</sub> receptors on the smooth muscle cells induce contraction through activation of phospholipase C (PLC) via G<sub>q</sub> proteins.<sup>50</sup> Activation of PLC hydrolyses phosphatidyl inositol (PIP<sub>2</sub>) to inositol triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) and 1,2-diacylglycerol (DAG). IP<sub>3</sub> causes release of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from intracellular stores, giving rise to a transient smooth muscle contraction. DAG can in turn activate protein kinase C (PKC).<sup>51</sup> In addition, ET<sub>A</sub> receptors activates G<sub>s</sub> proteins, while ET<sub>B</sub> receptors activates G<sub>i</sub> proteins.<sup>52</sup> These intracellular signalling events result in altered levels of cAMP, which affects the contractility of the smooth muscle cells.<sup>53</sup> ET<sub>A</sub> receptors also activate a Rho kinase pathway, suggested to produce the characteristic long-lasting contraction of ET-1.<sup>50</sup> Furthermore, most part of the ET<sub>B</sub> receptors are found on the endothelial cells, mediating vasodilatation through the release of nitric oxide (NO) and prostacyclins.<sup>54, 55</sup>

The  $ET_A$  receptor has similar affinity for ET-1 and ET-2 and lower affinity for ET-3, while the  $ET_B$  receptor shows an equal affinity for all three ligands.<sup>56, 57</sup>

#### Endothelin and ischemic stroke

There are several studies pointing towards a major role for the endothelin system in the pathophysiology of ischemic stroke. For instance, it has been suggested that increased endothelin-induced contractility leads to decreased perfusion of the ischemic area and subsequently an enlargement of the ischemic core.<sup>58, 59</sup>

After an ischemic stroke the levels of ET-1 are increased in plasma, cerebrospinal fluid and cerebral tissue.<sup>60, 61</sup> In addition, exogenous ET-1 is able to decrease cerebral blood flow to levels that induce ischemia.<sup>62</sup> However, the results concerning endothelin receptor antagonism in ischemic stroke have been contradictory. Selective  $ET_A$  receptor antagonists increase cerebral perfusion and decrease the ischemic area in some studies,<sup>63, 64</sup> but not in others.<sup>65, 66</sup> Similarly, the  $ET_A/ET_B$  receptor antagonist bosentan gives various results when used in models of ischemia.<sup>67-69</sup> Furthermore, an  $ET_B$  receptor antagonist, BQ788, has actually been shown to exacerbate the ischemic damage.<sup>70</sup> In conclusion, the endothelin

system is activated in ischemic stroke, but the use of endothelin receptor inhibitors might not be the best way to attenuate the endothelin system alterations.

#### Protein kinase C

#### PKC: isoforms and function

PKC was first discovered in 1977 as a kinase in rat brain which could be activated by limited hydrolysis.<sup>71</sup> This kinase was shown to include three different isoforms, which were denominated  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ .<sup>72, 73</sup> Since then thorough examination has revealed that PKC comprises more than ten different isoforms, all of which are serine/threonine kinases.<sup>74-76</sup> The isoforms are divided into three groups depending on their structure and requirements of activation. The classical PKCs (cPKC) comprise the isoforms  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta_1$ ,  $\beta_{11}$  and  $\gamma$ , and are activated by DAG and Ca<sup>2+</sup>. The novel PKCs (nPKC) ( $\delta$ ,  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\theta$ , and  $\eta$ ) require activation by DAG while the atypical PKCs (aPKC) ( $\zeta$  and  $\lambda$ ) are insensitive to both DAG and Ca<sup>2+</sup>.<sup>77</sup> Later, a fourth group, the protein kinase C-related kinases (PRKs), consisting of at least three members was found. Similar to the aPKCs, the PRKs are DAG and Ca<sup>2+</sup> insensitive. The PRKs have also been shown to bind and activate RhoA GTPase.<sup>78, 79</sup> Members of the PKC family are single polypeptides with an N-terminal regulatory region and a C-terminal catalytic region. PKC has four conserved domains, C1-C4, each with a different function. In the cPKC isoforms there is a DAG binding site and a Ca<sup>2+</sup> binding site in the C1

and C2 regions, respectively. In all isoforms, the C3 domain contains an ATP binding site and the C4 a substrate binding site.<sup>77</sup>

PKC participate in a wide range of cellular events, such as transcription, proliferation and receptor modulations. The kinase is activated by growth factors, hormones and neurotransmitters binding to their receptors.<sup>74, 80</sup>

#### PKC and ischemic stroke

PKC is known to be involved in the pathophysiology of ischemic stroke, but the exact role of its involvement is unclear. Inhibition of PKC with general inhibitors such as staurosporine has been proven to protect neurons from NO-induced as well as glutamate-induced excitotoxic cell death in culture, and from ischemic damage in animal models.<sup>81-83</sup> However, some studies have shown that the PKC activity is abolished after ischemia.<sup>84-86</sup> These contradictions have been suggested to be the result of different roles for the PKC isoforms.<sup>87, 88</sup>

When the brain is exposed to non-lethal ischemia, neuroprotective mechanisms are launched. The mechanisms are mediated through a range of diverse events such as ion channel activations and altered gene expression, which protect the neurons of the brain against subsequent lethal attacks. It has been shown that this ischemic tolerance is dependent on PKC activation.<sup>89, 90</sup>

PKC $\gamma$  is normally expressed only in neurons of the brain and spinal cord.<sup>91</sup> It is activated during ischemia in several models,<sup>92, 93</sup> and PKC $\gamma$  knock-out mice exhibit decreased infarct size after permanent focal ischemia.<sup>94</sup> However, in a model of transient ischemia, the same group found that PKC $\gamma$  knock-out mice did actually display larger ischemic injury.<sup>95</sup> This suggests that PKC $\gamma$  acts in a deleterious way initially, while being beneficial in the reperfusion phase.

The role of PKCε in ischemic stroke has also been a subject of research. PKCε is required for ischemic tolerance as a response to *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) exposure in cell culture.<sup>89</sup> Furthermore, a PKCε activator reduced damage in oxygen and glucose deprived neuronal cells.<sup>96</sup> The mechanisms underlying the beneficial effects of PKCε are still unclear.

Another isoform that has been proposed to be involved in the reperfusion injury is PKCδ. It is suggested to play a part in the reperfusion injury, as part of the apoptotic and inflammatory events.<sup>97, 98</sup> Treatment with PKCδ inhibitors decreases infarct size and PKCδ knock-out mice show a decreased infarct size after ischemia.<sup>99, 100</sup>

Taken together, the roles of PKCs in ischemic injury are truly diverse. In the present thesis we have shifted the focus towards the role of PKC in the vascular receptor alterations occurring after organ culture and ischemic stroke. This could provide new insights to the involvement of PKC in cerebral ischemia.

#### MAPK

#### MAPK: structure and function

The mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) are a family of serine/threonine kinases which are evolutionary conserved in all eukaryotes. MAPKs are involved in cellular responses to external signals such as growth factors, stress and inflammatory mediators.<sup>101-104</sup> The MAPK family consists of four members; the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)1/2, p38, c-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and big mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase (BMK/ERK).<sup>105</sup> All MAPK pathways include a MAPK kinase kinase (MAPKKK) which upon phosphorylation becomes activated and phosphorylates a MAPK kinase (MAPKK). The MAPKK in turn phosphorylates and activates the MAPK. The initial stimulus for this cascade varies between the MAPKs. ERK1/2 is often activated by growth factors,<sup>101</sup> while p38 and JNK are stress-activated protein kinases, which respond to stress and cytokines.<sup>102-104</sup> The BMK/ERK can be activated as a response to all stimuli mentioned above (Figure 1).<sup>106-108</sup> Many of the substrates of MAPKs are transcription factors, such as c-fos, c-jun and elk-1.<sup>109-111</sup>



Figure 1. Mitogen-activated protein kinase signalling cascades.

#### MAPK and ischemic stroke

The importance of MAPK signalling in the pathophysiology of ischemic stroke has been widely studied. Increased ERK1/2 phosphorylation has been observed in the ischemic area after both transient and permanent middle cerebral occlusion, as well as after global ischemia.<sup>112-116</sup> Consequently, inhibitors of ERK1/2 and MEK1/2 (the MAPKK of ERK1/2) have been effective in decreasing the ischemic area.<sup>113, 114</sup>

ERK1/2 is also activated in the cerebral arteries of the ischemic brain, pointing towards a role in vascular alterations.<sup>117</sup>

The p38 pathway is activated by inflammatory mediators such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , both of which are known to be increased after ischemic stroke.<sup>102</sup> Not surprisingly, there is an increased activity of p38 after cerebral ischemia,<sup>116, 118</sup> and inhibition of the p38 pathway has been found to decrease the infarct size.<sup>119</sup>

Presently, the importance of JNK in cerebral ischemia has not been investigated in detail. However, in neuronal tissue of mice subjected to permanent cerebral ischemia, JNK has been shown to be activated even earlier than both p38 and ERK1/2.<sup>116</sup> Lennmyr and colleagues failed to detect this activation in neurons after transient cerebral ischemia in rat, but instead showed an activation of JNK in the ipsilateral blood vessels.<sup>117</sup>

#### PKC and MAPK in endothelin receptor regulation

Our group has in several studies showed the involvement of both PKC and MAPK in endothelin receptor regulation in different settings. For example, in rat mesenteric artery undergoing organ culture the raf inhibitor SB386023 blocks the upregulation efficiently as do the PKC inhibitor staurosporine.<sup>120, 121</sup> This is also seen in human left internal mammary arteries after organ culture (Nilsson et al., 2006. Unpublished data). Furthermore, in an experimental model of SAH, both a PKC inhibitor and SB386023 blocks the ET<sub>B</sub> receptor upregulation of the MCA.<sup>122, 123</sup>

## **AIMS OF THE THESIS**

- To evaluate the time course of the ET<sub>B</sub> receptor upregulation in middle cerebral arteries after organ culture
- To examine if the ET<sub>B</sub> receptor upregulation in middle cerebral arteries after organ culture is transcriptionally induced
- To examine the involvement of MAPK and PKC in the endothelin receptor alterations during organ culture
- To study the endothelin receptor alterations in middle cerebral arteries 24 hours after middle cerebral artery occlusion
- To examine the involvement of MAPK and PKC in the endothelin receptor alterations following middle cerebral artery occlusion

## **GENERAL METHODS**

#### **Organ culture (paper I-III)**

Male Wistar rats were anesthetized with  $CO_2$  and decapitated. The right and left middle cerebral arteries (MCA) were removed and dissected free from surrounding tissue. The arteries were cultured in Dulbeccos modified Eagle's medium (DMEM), supplemented with penicillin (100 U/ml), streptomycin (100 µg/ml) and amphotericin B (25 µg/ml), at 37° C in humidified 5%  $CO_2$  in air. When inhibitors were used, they were added to the medium before incubation.

#### Animal surgery procedure and evaluation (paper IV-V)

#### Transient middle cerebral artery occlusion

Male Wistar rats were used for the procedure. The animals were housed under controlled temperature and humidity with free access to water and food. Transient middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) was induced by an intraluminal filament technique, previously described by Memezawa et al.<sup>124</sup> Briefly, anesthesia was induced using 4.5% halothane in N<sub>2</sub>O:O<sub>2</sub> (70%:30%). The rats were kept anesthetized by inhalation of 1.5% halothane through a mask. To confirm a proper occlusion and subsequently a proper reperfusion of the right MCA, a laser-Doppler probe was fixed on the skull (1 mm posterior to the bregma and 6 mm from the midline on the right side), measuring the blood flow in an area supplied by the right MCA. A polyethylene catheter was inserted into a tail artery for measurements of mean arterial blood pressure (MAP), pH, pO<sub>2</sub>, pCO<sub>2</sub> and plasma glucose. A rectal temperature probe connected to a homeothermal blanket was inserted for maintenance of a body temperature at 37° C during the operation. Thereafter, an incision was made in the midline of the neck and the right common, external and internal carotid arteries were exposed. The common and external

carotid arteries were permanently ligated with sutures. A filament was inserted into the internal carotid artery via an incision in the common carotid artery, and further advanced until the rounded tip reached the entrance of the right MCA. The resulting occlusion was made visible by laser-Doppler flowmetry as an abrupt reduction of cerebral blood flow of 75-90%. Immediately after occlusion, the rats were injected intraperitoneally (i.p.) with either a kinase inhibitor dissolved in DMSO or the corresponding volume of DMSO (control). The rats were then allowed to wake up.

Two hours after occlusion the rats were reanesthetized to allow for withdrawal of the filament and thereby achieve reperfusion. Rectal temperature was measured 30 minutes before occlusion and one hour after reperfusion.

#### Neurological examination

The rats were examined neurologically before recirculation and immediately before they were sacrificed, 24 hours after MCAO, and were given a value according to the scoring system seen below.<sup>125, 126</sup>

Score	Interpretation
0	No visible deficits
1	Contralateral forelimb flexion, when hold by tail
2	Decreased grip of contralateral forelimb
3	Spontaneous movement in all directions, but contralateral circling if pulled by tail
4	Spontaneous contralateral circling
5	Death

#### Brain damage evaluation

The brains were sliced coronally in two mm thick slices, and stained with 1% 2, 3, 5triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC) dissolved in physiological saline solution. The size of ischemic brain damage was calculated as percentage of the total brain volume using the software program Brain Damage Calculator 1.1.

#### Myograph experiments (paper I-V)

Myographs were used to measure the contractile properties of the arteries.<sup>127, 128</sup> The arteries were cut into cylindrical segments and the endothelium was removed mechanically by rubbing it off with a thread. The arteries were mounted on two 40 µm diameter stainless steel wires in a Mulvany-Halpern myograph. One of the wires was connected to a force transducer attached to an analogue-digital converter unit. The other wire was attached to a movable displacement device allowing adjustments of vascular tension by varying the distance between the wires. The experiments were recorded on a computer by use of the software program Chart<sup>TM</sup>. The segments were immersed in a temperature-controlled (37° C) bicarbonate buffer. The buffer was continuously gassed with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in O<sub>2</sub>, resulting in a pH of 7.4. The arteries were given an initial tension of 1.2 mN, and were allowed to adjust to this level of tension for one hour. The contractile capacity was determined by exposure to a potassium-rich (63.5 mM) buffer, and this response was used as a reference value. Concentration-response curves for the S6c (ET<sub>B</sub> receptor agonist) and ET-1 (ET<sub>A</sub> and ET<sub>B</sub> receptor agonist) were obtained by cumulative application (10<sup>-12</sup>-10<sup>-6.5</sup> M). Following S6c administration, the ET<sub>B</sub> receptors are desensitized, leaving only ET<sub>A</sub> receptors to interact with ET-1.<sup>129</sup> The maximum vascular contraction as response to S6c or ET-1 were calculated as percentage of the contractile response towards 63.5 mM  $K^+$  and denominated as the  $E_{max}$ 

value. The  $pEC_{50}$  values represent the negative logarithm of the concentration which elicits half-maximum response. Data are expressed as mean values  $\pm$  S.E.M.

#### **Molecular techniques**

#### Real-time PCR (paper I-III)

Total cellular RNA was extracted from each middle cerebral artery using the FastRNA Pro Green Kit following the suppliers' instructions. The resulting pellet was finally washed with ethanol, air-dried and redissolved in diethylpyrocarbonate-treated water. Reverse transcription of total RNA to cDNA was carried out using the GeneAmp RNA PCR kit in a Perkin-Elmer DNA Thermal cycler, using random hexamers as primers. Real-time PCR was performed in a GeneAmp 5700 Sequence Detection System using the GeneAmp SYBR<sup>®</sup> Green kit with the cDNA synthesized above as template. A no template control was included in all experiments. The real-time PCR consists of an optics and imaging system that is able to monitor the amount of DNA in each PCR cycle via the detection of a fluorescent dye binding to double-stranded DNA. The DNA levels of the genes of interest are compared to an endogenous standard, expressed to a constant amount. In all studies in this thesis, elongation factor-1 (EF-1) was used as an endogenous standard.

#### Immunohistochemistry (paper II-V)

Middle cerebral arteries were immersed in paraformaldehyde, frozen and subsequently sectioned into 15 µm slices (paper II) or placed onto Tissue TEK, frozen and sectioned into 10 µm slices (papers III-V). The primary antibodies against the protein of interest were added, and thereafter the secondary fluorescent antibodies. The antibodies were then detected at the appropriate wavelength in a confocal microscope. As control, only addition of secondary antibodies was used.

#### ELISA (paper II)

The arteries were homogenized in buffer with a protease inhibitor cocktail. After centrifugation, the supernatant was collected and total amount of phosphorylated ERK1/2 was measured using the BioSource International Inc. ERK1/2 [pTpY185/187] ELISA kit according to suppliers' instructions. This kit is designed to detect and quantify the level of both dual-phosphorylated ERK1 and ERK2. To quantify the activated ERK1/2 levels, total protein content in each sample was measured and the (ERK1/2)/protein ratio was used.

#### Western Blot (paper III)

The middle cerebral arteries were collected and placed on ice, homogenized in lysis-buffer with protease- and phosphatase inhibitors. After 20 minutes incubation in lysis buffer on ice, homogenates were centrifuged and the supernatant was collected. Total protein concentration was determined using a BioRad DC kit.

Lysates were dissolved in Tris-glycine SDS sample buffer and boiled for 5 minutes. Equal amounts of protein were loaded on an 8% Tris-glycine gel and separated by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Molecular weight markers were loaded on each gel for protein band identification. After separation, proteins were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. Membranes were then incubated with primary antibodies, followed by secondary antibodies connected to horseradish peroxidase, which was detected using the Supersignal Dura kit and visualized in a Fujifilm LAS-1000 Luminiscent Image Analyzer.

#### Statistics

In paper I, data were analyzed with ANOVA and Student's t test. In paper II-V, data were analyzed with Mann-Whitney's non-parametric test for two groups and Kruskal-Wallis test together with Dunn's post-hoc test for more than two groups.

## **RESULTS AND COMMENTS**

#### Endothelin receptor upregulation in organ culture (paper I-III)

#### Time-course of the endothelin receptor upregulation

In **paper I**, we examined the time-course of the endothelin receptor upregulation in cultured middle cerebral arteries. To separate the  $ET_A$  and  $ET_B$  receptor mediated contractions in the myographs, we first added S6c which binds to and desensitizes the  $ET_B$  receptors. After thorough rinsing the artery segments were exposed to ET-1, which subsequently only interacted with the  $ET_A$  receptors.

Previous studies have shown that in fresh arteries there is no  $ET_B$  receptor mediated contraction. However, organ culture has been shown to induce an upregulation of contractile  $ET_B$  receptors, something that was confirmed in paper I.<sup>4, 130, 131</sup> We demonstrated a slight contractile response to S6c already after 6 hours of organ culture, and this response was increased over time. In MCA incubated for 48 hours, the pEC<sub>50</sub> values were increased, pointing to a potentiation of the response (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Contractile responses to S6c after organ culture.

The  $E_{max}$  contractions induced by ET-1 did not change with organ culture. However, the pEC<sub>50</sub> value of the dose-response curve of MCAs cultured for 48 hours was higher. This leftward shift has been described before, although that study was conducted on basilar arteries.<sup>130</sup>

After 24 hours of organ culture, the  $ET_B$  receptor mRNA levels were increased compared to fresh arteries, while the  $ET_A$  receptor mRNA levels remained unchanged (Figure 3).



Figure 3. ET receptor mRNA levels in fresh MCA and in MCA after 24 hours of organ culture.

### Intracellular factors

To elucidate which intracellular mechanisms that are involved in the upregulation of  $ET_B$  receptors we added inhibitors to the medium before incubation. Both the transcriptional inhibitor actinomycin D and the translational inhibitor cycloheximide diminished receptor upregulation considerably (paper I). Actinomycin D forms a complex with the DNA and thereby blocks the RNA polymerase from binding, while cycloheximide inhibits protein synthesis by binding to the 60S subunit of the ribosomes.<sup>132, 133</sup> Thus, this suggests that there is a production of new  $ET_B$  receptors from gene level in organ culture, which is in accordance with previous studies performed in rat mesenteric arteries.<sup>134</sup>

The upregulation of  $ET_B$  receptors in mesenteric arteries has been found to be dependent on PKC.<sup>120</sup> Logically, we wanted to examine if PKC was involved in the  $ET_B$  receptor upregulation in the MCA as well.

In **paper I**, a general PKC inhibitor, Ro-31-8220, was added to the medium before incubation. Ro-31-8220 attenuated both the upregulated  $ET_B$  receptor mRNA levels and the contractile  $ET_B$  receptor mediated response seen after 24 hours of organ culture (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Contractile responses to S6c after 24 hours of organ culture.

Ro-31-8220 has been shown to inhibit not only PKC, but also other factors such as c-jun, JNK and mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1 (MKP-1).<sup>135, 136</sup> Consequently, there is a risk of the inhibiting effect not being solely dependent on PKC. For that reason, we decided to follow up with a more extensive study with PKC inhibitors. In **paper III**, four different PKC inhibitors were added to the medium in which MCAs were cultured for 24 hours. The arteries were examined with myographs, immunohistochemistry, real-time PCR and Western blot. The functional responses measured in the myographs showed that in MCAs incubated with the PKC inhibitors bisindolylmaleimide I, Ro-32-0432

and PKC inhibitor 20-28 (a peptide mimicking an inactivating part of  $PKC^{137}$ ) the  $ET_B$ 

PKC

receptor mediated contractions were diminished (Figure 5). The PKC inhibitors did not affect the  $ET_A$  receptor mediated contractions.



Figure 5. Contractile responses to S6c after 24 hours of organ culture.

Real-time PCR showed that Ro-32-0432 decreased both the  $ET_A$  and  $ET_B$  receptor mRNA levels compared to control. Bisindolylmaleimide I decreased the  $ET_B$  receptor mRNA levels, and showed a tendency to decrease the  $ET_A$  receptor mRNA levels, while PKC inhibitor 20-28 had no effect on the ET receptor mRNA.

On the other hand, PKC inhibitor 20-28 was shown to be the most efficient inhibitor when measuring the amount of  $ET_B$  receptor protein in the arteries with immunohistochemistry (Figure 6).

![](_page_29_Picture_0.jpeg)

**Figure 6.** Expression of  $ET_B$  receptor protein in MCA incubated for 24 hours (A) and MCA incubated for 24 hours with PKC inhibitor 20-28 (B).

The discrepancy between the effects of the PKC inhibitors on the mRNA level compared to protein levels can be explained in several ways. Firstly, Ro-32-0432 and bisindolylmaleimide I might exert their inhibitory effects on PKC early in the production of new contractile  $ET_B$  receptors, which causes the decrease in  $ET_B$  receptor mRNA. In contrast, PKC inhibitor 20-28 might not come into play until the  $ET_B$  receptor production reaches the protein levels. Bisindolylmaleimide I and Ro-32-0432 did affect the  $ET_B$  receptor protein levels as well, albeit marginally. However, this small decrease in receptor density in the arteries could be sufficient to diminish the functional response.

Another way to explain the discrepancy is that the effect of PKC inhibitor 20-28 is more transient than for the two other inhibitors, and after 24 hours the  $ET_B$  receptor mRNA might be restored to its original levels.

Furthermore, these PKC inhibitors exhibit differences in the affinity for the PKC isoforms. Bisindolylmaleimide I inhibits the cPKCs ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta_{I}$ ,  $\beta_{II}$ ,  $\gamma$ ) effectively and PKC $\delta$  and PKC $\epsilon$  to a lesser extent.<sup>138, 139</sup> Ro-32-0432 primarily inhibits PKC $\alpha$ , but in high concentrations Ro-32-0432 also inhibits the other isoforms of the cPKCs.<sup>140</sup> The PKC inhibitor 20-28 is based on a motif from the PKC $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  isoforms.<sup>137</sup> In paper III, Western blot shows that PKC inhibitor 20-28 is able to decrease the protein amount of not only the PKC $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  isoforms, but of all five subtypes tested ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta_I$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$  and  $\epsilon$ ). The decrease was most prominent in the PKC $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  isoforms.

Taken together, the differences in affinity could be important if there are several PKC isoforms playing a part in the  $ET_B$  receptor upregulation after organ culture. As shown in paper I, the  $ET_A$  receptor mRNA levels are not altered during organ culture. Nevertheless, Ro-32-0432 diminished these levels after organ culture, without affecting the functional  $ET_A$  receptor response.

#### MAPK

As mentioned above, MAPKs are activated by a range of extracellular stimuli, such as growth factors and cytokines. A previous study performed in our laboratory showed that cytokines, which also activate the p38 MAPK, are able to increase the ET<sub>B</sub> receptor mediated contractions in arteries that have undergone organ culture.<sup>141</sup> Furthermore, PKC is known to activate the ERK1/2 MAPK pathway.<sup>142, 143</sup> Thus, the involvement of MAPK in the upregulation of ET<sub>B</sub> receptors after organ culture seemed very plausible. In **paper II** we investigated the involvement of ERK1/2 and p38 MAPK pathways in the upregulation of contractile ET<sub>B</sub> receptors after 24 hours of organ culture. The inhibitors selected for the ERK1/2 pathway were U0126, which inhibits MEK1/2, and SB386023, which inhibits raf. To inhibit p38, SB239063 was added to the culture medium. The functional responses measured with myographs showed that in MCA incubated with the ERK1/2 pathway inhibitors, the ET<sub>B</sub> receptor upregulation was diminished (Figure 7). This was not obtained with the p38 inhibitor.

![](_page_31_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 7. Contractile responses to S6c after 24 hours of organ culture.

Interestingly, the raf inhibitor SB386023 and the p38 inhibitor SB239063 enhanced the contractile responses to ET-1, pointing towards a possible functional upregulation of  $ET_A$  receptors.

The real-time PCR partly confirmed our contractile experiments. U0126 and SB386023 diminished the  $ET_B$  mRNA levels (although not significantly in the case of U0126). In addition SB386023 and SB239063 showed a tendency to elevate the  $ET_A$  receptors mRNA levels (Figure 8). The difference between the functional  $ET_A$  receptor responses and mRNA levels could simply be due to the fact that the mRNA levels were increased at an earlier stage of the organ culture and at the time point chosen had returned to their original levels.

![](_page_32_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 8. mRNA levels of ET receptors in MCA after 24 hours of organ culture.

The raf inhibitor SB386023 also affected the expression of  $ET_B$  receptor protein on smooth muscle cells, which was established with immunohistochemistry (Figure 9).

![](_page_32_Picture_3.jpeg)

**Figure 9.** Expression of  $ET_B$  receptor protein in MCA incubated for 24 hours (A) and MCA incubated for 24 hours with raf inhibitor SB386023 (B).

#### Endothelin receptor upregulation in ischemic stroke (paper IV-V)

#### Endothelin receptor alterations

Previous studies in our group have shown that 48 hours after transient MCAO in rat, there is an upregulation of contractile  $ET_B$  receptors in the ipsilateral MCA similar to the one seen in

organ culture, although not as prominent.<sup>3</sup> There is also a potentiation of the angiotensin II contraction mediated by angiotensin I receptors.<sup>144</sup> We now wanted to examine the endothelin receptor mediated contractions 24 hours after transient MCAO.

In **paper IV**, when examining the control group, there was indeed an upregulation of contractile  $ET_B$  receptors 24 hours after MCAO. The ipsilateral and contralateral MCAs were examined in myographs, and the  $ET_B$  receptor mediated response in the contralateral MCA was 8% of the potassium-induced reference contractions. In the right, ipsilateral MCA, this value was 40%. In **paper V**, where the control group was treated identically to the one in paper IV, these percentages were 3% and 21%, respectively.

In paper IV, there was also an upregulation of the  $ET_A$  receptor mediated contractions when compared the ipsilateral MCA and the contralateral MCA of the control group. However, this difference was not seen in the control group of paper V. The discrepancies in the endothelin receptor mediated responses between these studies may be due to relatively small groups (n = 6) and further investigations may show that there is indeed an  $ET_A$  receptor upregulation, however not as pronounced as in the case of the  $ET_B$  receptors. This scenario is strengthened by the study in which contractile endothelin responses were analyzed 48 hours after the occlusion. In that study, there was a tendency towards upregulation of  $ET_A$  receptors in the right occluded MCA. ET-1 induced contractions for right MCA was 203% and for left MCA 160% compared to the potassium-induced reference contractions. However, this difference was not significant.<sup>3</sup>

#### PKC

**In paper V**, we examined the effect of the PKC inhibitor Ro-32-0432 on the endothelin receptor alterations 24 hours after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion. Ro-32-0432 was injected i.p. in conjuction with the occlusion, and as in organ culture (paper III), this inhibitor was able to diminish the upregulation of contractile  $ET_B$  receptors (Figure 10). The contractile results were confirmed by immunohistochemistry, showing a lower density of  $ET_B$  receptors in the right MCA of the Ro-32-0432 treated rats (Figure 11). This was accompanied by a decrease in brain damage (9% of brain volume compared to 25% in the control group) and an improvement of neurological status of the rats.

![](_page_34_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 10. Contractile responses to S6c in RMCA of control rats and Ro-32-0432 treated rats.

![](_page_35_Picture_0.jpeg)

**Figure 11.** *ET<sub>B</sub> receptor protein in (A) Ro-32-0432 RMCA,* (*B*) *control RMCA, (C) Ro-32-0432 LMCA and (D) control LMCA.* 

## MAPK

In **paper IV**, we examined the effect of the MEK1/2 inhibitor U0126 in rats subjected to transient middle cerebral artery occlusion. U0126 was injected i.p in conjuction with the occlusion, and similarly to the PKC inhibitor in paper V, this inhibitor was able to diminish the upregulation of contractile  $ET_B$  receptors. It also decreased the brain damage (11% of brain volume compared to 25% in the control group) and improved the neurological status of the rats significantly. Immunohistochemistry revealed a fainter staining of phosphorylated ERK1/2 protein in the U0126 treated rats compared to control rats (Figure 12).

![](_page_36_Picture_0.jpeg)

**Figure 12.** *pERK1/2 protein in (A) control RMCA and (B) U0126 RMCA.* 

## **MAJOR CONCLUSIONS**

- Organ culture induces a time-dependent ET<sub>B</sub> receptor upregulation in middle cerebral arteries and this upregulation is due to production of new ET<sub>B</sub> receptors.
- The ET<sub>B</sub> receptor upregulation in middle cerebral arteries after 24 hours of organ culture involves both ERK1/2 MAPK and PKC.
- 24 hours after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion ET<sub>B</sub> receptors are upregulated in the ipsilateral middle cerebral artery.
- The ET<sub>B</sub> receptor upregulation 24 hours after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion is attenuated by treatment with a MEK1/2 MAPK inhibitor. The treatment also results in improved neurological status and diminished brain damage area.
- The ET<sub>B</sub> receptor upregulation 24 hours after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion is attenuated by treatment with a PKC inhibitor. The treatment also results in improved neurological status and diminished brain damage area.

## **SVENSK SAMMANFATTNING (SWEDISH SUMMARY)**

#### Bakgrund

Stroke är en av våra största folksjukdomar och den tredje vanligaste dödsorsaken efter hjärtinfarkt och cancer i Sverige. Ungefär 90% av alla stroke-fall beror på hjärninfarkt, det vill säga en blodpropp som täpper till ett blodkärl i hjärnan. I det mest centrala området av infarkten dör hjärnans celler på grund av syrebrist. Runtom kärnan i infarkten finns ett område kallat penumbran där syrebrist råder, dock inte lika påtaglig som i kärnan. Hjärncellerna i penumbran kan därmed under gynnsamma omständigheter överleva. Mycket tyder på att blodkärl i närheten av infarkten drar ihop sig, vilket försämrar syretillförseln till penumbran ytterligare.

Kroppens blodkärl har till uppgift att transportera syre och näring till kroppens alla celler, samt forsla bort slaggprodukter. Blodkärlen kan ändra diameter genom att dra ihop sig eller vidgas och därmed påverka blodtryck och flöde. Detta är ett effektivt sätt för kroppen att reglera blodflödet ut till de minsta kärlen, kapillärerna, där näringsutbytet äger rum. Blodkärl består av tre lager; det yttre bindvävslagret som ger kärlet stadga, innanför det ett lager med muskulatur och längst in ett lager av celler som fungerar som en barriär och transportör av ämnen mellan blodet och vävnaden. Musklerna i blodkärlen kan inte kontrolleras viljemässigt, utan styrs av nervsignaler samt cirkulerande substanser i blodet som binder till mottagarstrukturer på muskelcellernas yta. Dessa mottagare, så kallade receptorer, är specifika för varje substans och antalet kan förändras vid sjukdom.

En av dessa cirkulerande substanser är endotelin-1. Vi vet att i stroke stiger nivåerna av endotelin-1 i blodet. Endotelin-1 bildas i endotelcellerna i blodkärl och substansen binder till två receptorer,  $ET_A$  och  $ET_B$ , på muskelcellerna vilket resulterar i en långvarig och stark sammandragning av kärlet. I normala fall medieras kontraktion av hjärnans artärer av  $ET_A$ -receptorer, men vi har tidigare visat att efter stroke hos råttor finns det även  $ET_B$ -receptorer på muskelcellerna, vilket skulle kunna ge upphov till en mer potent sammandragning av blodkärlet och därmed sämre syretillförsel till hjärnan.

#### Syfte med avhandlingen

Syftet med min avhandling är att klargöra vissa av de sjukliga förändringar i hjärnans blodkärl efter stroke. Avhandlingen består av fem delstudier, där vi har undersökt uppkomsten av ET<sub>B</sub>-receptorer på muskelcellerna i hjärnans blodkärl. Vi har också försökt utröna de bakomliggande orsakerna till denna ökning av ET<sub>B</sub>-receptorer. En ökad förståelse för bakomliggande mekanismer till denna förändring i hjärnans blodkärl kan leda till nya sätt att behandla strokepatienter.

#### Metoder

För att undersöka vad som ligger bakom uppkomsten av  $ET_B$ -receptorer på muskelcellerna har vi använt en metod där blodkärl odlas i 37° C, varvid bl.a. förändringar i receptoruppsättning sker. Vi har också inducerat stroke i råttor för att undersöka detta.

#### Resultat

I **studie I** odlades blodkärl i 37° C, varefter deras kontraktila (sammandragande) förmåga undersöktes. Vi såg att precis som vid stroke ökar antalet  $ET_B$ -receptorer i hjärnans artärer efter organkultur i minst 12 timmar. Denna uppreglering sker på gennivå, dvs. genen för  $ET_B$ -receptor aktiveras. Exakt hur cellsignaleringen som leder till produktion av receptorer går till vet man inte, men i studie I redovisar vi resultat som pekar på att en speciell typ av enzym, sk proteinkinas C, är involverat i signalkaskaden. I **studie III** bekräftade vi involveringen av proteinkinas C genom att tillsätta specifika hämmare mot proteinkinas C till blodkärlen innan de odlades i 24 timmar. Detta resulterade i starkt hämmade  $ET_B$ -receptorkontraktioner i kärlen. I **studie V** visade vi att proteinkinas C-blockad ger en minskad hjärnskada hos råttor där stroke inducerats. Även här är  $ET_B$ -receptorkontraktionerna i kärlen minskade.

Proteinkinas C kan aktivera en annan molekyl i cellerna, sk mitogen-activated protein kinase, förkortat MAPK. I **studie II** undersöktes om blockad av MAPK gav lägre  $ET_{B^-}$  receptorkontraktioner i odlade kärl, vilket det visade sig göra. Slutligen i **studie IV** injicerades råttor med en MAPK-hämmare i samband med att stroke inducerades. Detta minskade både hjärnskadorna och  $ET_{B^-}$ receptorkontraktionerna hos djuren.

#### Slutsats

Eftersom liknande  $ET_B$ -receptorförändringar sker vid såväl organkultur som vid stroke kan denna avhandling ge ledtrådar till vilka bakomliggande faktorer som orsakar förändringarna även vid stroke hos människa. Avhandlingen visar att organkultur såväl som stroke kan orsaka en ökning av kontraktila  $ET_B$ -receptorer i hjärnans blodkärl. Vi har också funnit signalvägar som är involverade i detta skeende.

Resultaten kan på lång sikt leda till nya behandlingsmetoder, med läkemedel som motverkar orsakerna till den ökade nivån av dessa receptorer. Det skulle förhoppningsvis minska syrebristen och göra att fler hjärnceller överlever efter stroke.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

## Tack till...

#### Min handledare:

Lars Edvinsson för att du har guidat mig genom forskningsdjungeln med en aldrig sinande optimism och entusiasm. Du har förmågan att alltid se saker och ting från den ljusa sidan.

#### Mina medförfattare:

**Emelie Stenman** som lärt mig allt om hur man överlever bakslagen inom forskning. Tack för ett underbart samarbete med lika delar fnitter och forskning. Utan dig hade denna avhandling inte funnits.

**Petter Vikman** som hållit mig alert med massiva koffeinchockar. Tack för all hjälp i labbet och för din humor!

Saema Beg för ditt engagemang och hjälpsamhet och för många intressanta diskussioner om allt mellan himmel och jord.

Cang-Bao Xu för att du alltid har tagit dig tid när jag behövt hjälp.

#### Mina kollegor på kärlforskning:

Angelica Wackenfors för ditt stöd både i forskningen och på höga höjder. Du är en klippa!

Roya Jamali för ditt goda humör och för trevligt resesällskap.

**Erik Uddman** för att du bidragit till trevlig stämning på labbet och för ditt engagemang i forskningen.

Elisabeth Nilsson, Yi Liu, David Nilsson, Bengt Granström, Malin Malmsjö, Karen Eskesen för hjälp med stort och smått och för trevligt sällskap.

#### Vår sekreterare:

Christel Ekstrand för att du alltid har tid och fixar allt med ett leende på läpparna

#### Övriga kollegor:

Carin Sjölund och Gunilla Gidö för all hjälp och handledning i operationsrummet.

Mattias Bryborn för ditt skräddarsydda program och ditt oändliga tålamod.

#### Min familj och mina vänner:

Mina föräldrar, **Birgit och Lars**, och min bror, **Peter**, för att ni alltid varit övertygade om att jag skulle klara detta.

**Ulrika, Emma och Karin** som aldrig varit för upptagna med forskning för att hinna med en kopp kaffe.

Ola för allt stöd i allmänhet och datorhjälp i synnerhet.

Torkel, John, Peter, Lars och Helena för onsdagarnas verklighetsflykt.

Alla andra, ingen nämnd och ingen glömd, för att ni hjälpt och stöttat.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2006 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2006;113:e85-151
- 2. Stapf C, Mohr JP. Ischemic stroke therapy. Annu Rev Med. 2002;53:453-475
- Stenman E, Malmsjo M, Uddman E, Gido G, Wieloch T, Edvinsson L. Cerebral ischemia upregulates vascular endothelin ET(B) receptors in rat. *Stroke*. 2002;33:2311-2316
- 4. Adner M, Cantera L, Ehlert F, Nilsson L, Edvinsson L. Plasticity of contractile endothelin-B receptors in human arteries after organ culture. *Br J Pharmacol*. 1996;119:1159-1166.
- 5. Won SJ, Kim DY, Gwag BJ. Cellular and molecular pathways of ischemic neuronal death. *J Biochem Mol Biol*. 2002;35:67-86
- 6. Martin RL, Lloyd HG, Cowan AI. The early events of oxygen and glucose deprivation: setting the scene for neuronal death? *Trends Neurosci*. 1994;17:251-257
- 7. Dirnagl U, Iadecola C, Moskowitz MA. Pathobiology of ischaemic stroke: an integrated view. *Trends Neurosci*. 1999;22:391-397
- 8. Nelson CW, Wei EP, Povlishock JT, Kontos HA, Moskowitz MA. Oxygen radicals in cerebral ischemia. *Am J Physiol*. 1992;263:H1356-1362
- 9. Weisbrot-Lefkowitz M, Reuhl K, Perry B, Chan PH, Inouye M, Mirochnitchenko O. Overexpression of human glutathione peroxidase protects transgenic mice against focal cerebral ischemia/reperfusion damage. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res.* 1998;53:333-338
- 10. Furukawa K, Fu W, Li Y, Witke W, Kwiatkowski DJ, Mattson MP. The actin-severing protein gelsolin modulates calcium channel and NMDA receptor activities and vulnerability to excitotoxicity in hippocampal neurons. *J Neurosci*. 1997;17:8178-8186
- 11. Astrup J, Siesjo BK, Symon L. Thresholds in cerebral ischemia the ischemic penumbra. *Stroke*. 1981;12:723-725
- 12. Siesjo BK. Pathophysiology and treatment of focal cerebral ischemia. Part I: Pathophysiology. *J Neurosurg*. 1992;77:169-184
- 13. A Randomized Trial of Tirilazad Mesylate in Patients With Acute Stroke (RANTTAS). *Stroke*. 1996;27:1453-1458
- Clinical trial of nimodipine in acute ischemic stroke. The American Nimodipine Study Group [published erratum appears in Stroke 1992 Apr;23(4):615]. *Stroke*. 1992;23:3-8

- Davis SM, Albers GW, Diener HC, Lees KR, Norris J. Termination of Acute Stroke Studies Involving Selfotel Treatment. ASSIST Steering Committed. *Lancet*. 1997;349:32
- Diener HC. Multinational randomised controlled trial of lubeluzole in acute ischaemic stroke. European and Australian Lubeluzole Ischaemic Stroke Study Group. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 1998;8:172-181
- Fagan SC, Hess DC, Hohnadel EJ, Pollock DM, Ergul A. Targets for vascular protection after acute ischemic stroke. *Stroke*. 2004;35:2220-2225
- 18. Ziv I, Fleminger G, Djaldetti R, Achiron A, Melamed E, Sokolovsky M. Increased plasma endothelin-1 in acute ischemic stroke. *Stroke*. 1992;23:1014-1016
- Matsuo Y, Mihara S, Ninomiya M, Fujimoto M. Protective effect of endothelin type A receptor antagonist on brain edema and injury after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. *Stroke*. 2001;32:2143-2148
- Cipolla MJ, McCall AL, Lessov N, Porter JM, Kontos H. Reperfusion decreases myogenic reactivity and alters middle cerebral artery function after focal cerebral ischemia in rats. *Stroke*. 1997;28:176-180
- 21. Kontos HA. Oxygen radicals in cerebral ischemia: the 2001 Willis lecture. *Stroke*. 2001;32:2712-2716
- Kontos CD, Wei EP, Williams JI, Kontos HA, Povlishock JT. Cytochemical detection of superoxide in cerebral inflammation and ischemia in vivo. *Am J Physiol*. 1992;263:H1234-1242
- Sairanen T, Carpen O, Karjalainen-Lindsberg ML, Paetau A, Turpeinen U, Kaste M, Lindsberg PJ. Evolution of cerebral tumor necrosis factor-alpha production during human ischemic stroke. *Stroke*. 2001;32:1750-1758
- 24. Rothwell NJ, Hopkins SJ. Cytokines and the nervous system II: Actions and mechanisms of action. *Trends Neurosci*. 1995;18:130-136
- 25. O'Neill LAJ, Kaltschmidt C. NF-kB: a crucial transcription factor for glial and neuronal cell function. *Trends Neurosci.* 1997;20:252-258
- Croll SD, Wiegand SJ. Vascular growth factors in cerebral ischemia. *Mol Neurobiol*. 2001;23:121-135
- Ay H, Ay I, Koroshetz WJ, Finklestein SP. Potential usefulness of basic fibroblast growth factor as a treatment for stroke. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 1999;9:131-135
- Zachary I. VEGF signalling: integration and multi-tasking in endothelial cell biology. Biochem Soc Trans. 2003;31:1171-1177
- Hickey KA, Rubanyi G, Paul RJ, Highsmith RF. Characterization of a coronary vasoconstrictor produced by cultured endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol*. 1985;248:C550-556

- Yanagisawa M, Kurihara H, Kimura S, Tomobe Y, Kobayashi M, Mitsui Y, Yazaki Y, Goto K, Masaki T. A novel potent vasoconstrictor peptide produced by vascular endothelial cells. *Nature*. 1988;332:411-415
- Inoue A, Yanagisawa M, Kimura S, Kasuya Y, Miyauchi T, Goto K, Masaki T. The human endothelin family: three structurally and pharmacologically distinct isopeptides predicted by three separate genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1989;86:2863-2867.
- 32. Itoh Y, Yanagisawa M, Ohkubo S, Kimura C, Kosaka T, Inoue A, Ishida N, Mitsui Y, Onda H, Fujino M, Masaki T. Cloning and sequence analysis of cDNA encoding the precursor of a human endothelium-derived vasoconstrictor peptide, endothelin: Identity of human and porcine endothelin. *FEBS Letters*. 1988;231:440-444
- 33. Kashiwabara T, Inagaki Y, Ohta H, Iwamatsu A, Nomizu M, Morita A, Nishikori K. Putative precursors of endothelin have less vasoconstrictor activity in vitro but a potent pressor effect in vivo. *FEBS Letters*. 1989;247:73-76
- 34. Schmidt M, Kroger B, Jacob E, Seulberger H, Subkowski T, Otter R, Meyer T, Schmalzing G, Hillen H. Molecular characterization of human and bovine endothelin converting enzyme (ECE-1). *FEBS Letters*. 1994;356:238-243
- Xu D, Emoto N, Giaid A, Slaughter C, Kaw S, deWit D, Yanagisawa M. ECE-1: A membrane-bound metalloprotease that catalyzes the proteolytic activation of big endothelin-1. *Cell*. 1994;78:473-485
- Ehrenreich H, Anderson R, Fox C, Rieckmann P, Hoffman G, Travis W, Coligan J, Kehrl J, Fauci A. Endothelins, peptides with potent vasoactive properties, are produced by human macrophages. *J Exp Med.* 1990;172:1741-1748
- Vittori E, Marini M, Fasoli A, De Franchis R, Mattoli S. Increased expression of endothelin in bronchial epithelial cells of asthmatic patients and effect of corticosteroids. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* 1992;146:1320-1325
- Sakurai T, Yanagisawa M, Inoue A, Ryan US, Kimura S, Mitsui Y, Goto K, Masaki T. cDNA cloning, sequence analysis and tissue distribution of rat preproendothelin-1 mRNA. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1991;175:44-47
- Yoshizumi M, Kurihara H, Sugiyama T, Takaku F, Yanagisawa M, Masaki T, Yazaki Y. Hemodynamic shear stress stimulates endothelin production by cultured endothelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1989;161:859-864
- Emori T, Hirata Y, Ohta K, Kanno K, Eguchi S, Imai T, Shichiri M, Marumo F. Cellular mechanism of endothelin-1 release by angiotensin and vasopressin. *Hypertension*. 1991;18:165-170
- 41. Emori T, Hirata Y, Imai T, Ohta K, Kanno K, Eguchi S, Marumo F. Cellular mechanism of thrombin on endothelin-1 biosynthesis and release in bovine endothelial cell. *Biochem Pharmacol*. 1992;44:2409-2411

- 42. Wollberg Z, Shabo-Shina R, Intrator N, Bdolah A, Kochva E, Shavit G, Oron Y, Vidne BA, Gitter S. A novel cardiotoxic polypeptide from the venom of Atractaspis engaddensis (burrowing asp): Cardiac effects in mice and isolated rat and human heart preparations. *Toxicon*. 1988;26:525-534
- Kloog Y, Ambar I, Sokolovsky M, Kochva E, Wollberg Z, Bdolah A. Sarafotoxin, a novel vasoconstrictor peptide: phosphoinositide hydrolysis in rat heart and brain. *Science*. 1988;242:268-270
- Moreland S, McMullen DM, Delaney CL, Lee VG, Hunt JT. Venous smooth muscle contains vasoconstrictor ETB-like receptors. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1992;184:100-106
- 45. Davenport AP, O'Reilly G, Kuc RE. Endothelin ETA and ETB mRNA and receptors expressed by smooth muscle in the human vasculature: majority of the ETA sub-type. *Br J Pharmacol.* 1995;114:1110-1116
- Dagassan PH, Breu V, Clozel M, Kunzli A, Vogt P, Turina M, Kiowski W, Clozel JP. Up-regulation of endothelin-B receptors in atherosclerotic human coronary arteries. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 1996;27:147-153
- Pernow J, Bohm F, Johansson BL, Hedin U, Ryden L. Enhanced vasoconstrictor response to endothelin-B-receptor stimulation in patients with atherosclerosis. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2000;36:S418-420
- Bauer M, Wilkens H, Langer F, Schneider SO, Lausberg H, Schafers HJ. Selective upregulation of endothelin B receptor gene expression in severe pulmonary hypertension. *Circulation*. 2002;105:1034-1036
- Wackenfors A, Emilson M, Ingemansson R, Hortobagyi T, Szok D, Tajti J, Vecsei L, Edvinsson L, Malmsjo M. Ischemic heart disease induces upregulation of endothelin receptor mRNA in human coronary arteries. *Eur J Pharmacol*. 2004;484:103-109
- Hersch E, Huang J, Grider JR, Murthy KS. Gq/G13 signaling by ET-1 in smooth muscle: MYPT1 phosphorylation via ETA and CPI-17 dephosphorylation via ETB. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 2004;287:C1209-1218
- 51. Danthuluri NR, Brock TA. Endothelin receptor-coupling mechanisms in vascular smooth muscle: a role for protein kinase C. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* 1990;254:393-399
- Eguchi S, Hirata Y, Imai T, Marumo F. Endothelin receptor subtypes are coupled to adenylate cyclase via different guanyl nucleotide-binding proteins in vasculature. *Endocrinology*. 1993;132:524-529
- Aramori I, Nakanishi S. Coupling of two endothelin receptor subtypes to differing signal transduction in transfected Chinese hamster ovary cells. *J Biol Chem.* 1992;267:12468-12474
- 54. de Nucci G, Thomas R, D'Orleans-Juste P, Antunes E, Walder C, Warner TD, Vane JR. Pressor effects of circulating endothelin are limited by its removal in the pulmonary

circulation and by the release of prostacyclin and endothelium-derived relaxing factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1988;85:9797-9800

- Szok D, Hansen-Schwartz J, Edvinsson L. In depth pharmacological characterization of endothelin B receptors in the rat middle cerebral artery. *Neurosci Lett.* 2001;314:69-72
- Panek RL, Major TC, Hingorani GP, Doherty AM, Taylor DG, Rapundalo ST. Endothelin and structurally related analogs distinguish between endothelin receptor subtypes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1992;183:566-571
- 57. Sakurai T, Yanagisawa M, Masaki T. Molecular characterization of endothelin receptors. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* 1992;13:103-108
- 58. Robinson MJ, Macrae IM, Todd M, Reid JL, McCulloch J. Reduction of local cerebral blood flow to pathological levels by endothelin-1 applied to the middle cerebral artery in the rat. *Neurosci Lett.* 1990;118:269-272
- 59. Asano T, Ikegaki I, Suzuki Y, Satoh S, Shibuya M. Endothelin and the production of cerebral vasospasm in dogs. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1989;159:1345-1351
- Lampl Y, Fleminger G, Gilad R, Galron R, Sarova-Pinhas I, Sokolovsky M. Endothelin in cerebrospinal fluid and plasma of patients in the early stage of ischemic stroke. *Stroke.* 1997;28:1951-1955
- 61. Viossat I, Duverger D, Chapelat M, Pirotzky E, Chabrier PE, Braquet P. Elevated tissue endothelin content during focal cerebral ischemia in the rat. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol*. 1993;22 Suppl 8:S306-309
- 62. Macrae IM, Robinson MJ, Graham DI, Reid JL, McCulloch J. Endothelin-1-induced reductions in cerebral blood flow: dose dependency, time course, and neuropathological consequences. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 1993;13:276-284
- 63. Patel TR, Galbraith S, Graham DI, Hallak H, Doherty AM, McCulloch J. Endothelin receptor antagonist increases cerebral perfusion and reduces ischaemic damage in feline focal cerebral ischaemia. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 1996;16:950-958
- 64. Dawson DA, Sugano H, McCarron RM, Hallenbeck JM, Spatz M. Endothelin receptor antagonist preserves microvascular perfusion and reduces ischemic brain damage following permanent focal ischemia. *Neurochem Res.* 1999;24:1499-1505
- 65. Bhardwaj A, Wu Y, Hurn PD, Kirsch JR, Traystman RJ. Administration of selective endothelin receptor type A antagonist Ro 61-1790 does not improve outcome in focal cerebral ischemia in cat. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 2000;20:499-504
- 66. Umemura K, Ishiye M, Kosuge K, Nakashima M. Effect of combination of a tissuetype plasminogen activator and an endothelin receptor antagonist, FR139317, in the rat cerebral infarction model. *Eur J Pharmacol*. 1995;275:17-21
- 67. McAuley MA, Breu V, Graham DI, McCulloch J. The effects of bosentan on cerebral blood flow and histopathology following middle cerebral artery occlusion in the rat. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 1996;307:171-181

- Patel TR, McCulloch J. Failure of an endothelin antagonist to modify hypoperfusion after transient global ischaemia in the rat. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1996;16:490-499
- 69. Li XS, Wang QD, Pernow J. Beneficial effects of the endothelin receptor antagonist bosentan on myocardial and endothelial injury following ischaemia/reperfusion in the rat. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 1995;283:161-168
- Chuquet J, Benchenane K, Toutain J, MacKenzie ET, Roussel S, Touzani O. Selective blockade of endothelin-B receptors exacerbates ischemic brain damage in the rat. *Stroke*. 2002;33:3019-3025
- Takai Y, Kishimoto A, Inoue M, Nishizuka Y. Studies on a cyclic nucleotideindependent protein kinase and its proenzyme in mammalian tissues. I. Purification and characterization of an active enzyme from bovine cerebellum. *J Biol Chem*. 1977;252:7603-7609
- 72. Coussens L, Parker PJ, Rhee L, Yang-Feng TL, Chen E, Waterfield MD, Francke U, Ullrich A. Multiple, distinct forms of bovine and human protein kinase C suggest diversity in cellular signaling pathways. *Science*. 1986;233:859-866
- Parker PJ, Coussens L, Totty N, Rhee L, Young S, Chen E, Stabel S, Waterfield MD, Ullrich A. The complete primary structure of protein kinase C--the major phorbol ester receptor. *Science*. 1986;233:853-859
- Nishizuka Y. Intracellular signaling by hydrolysis of phospholipids and activation of protein kinase C. *Science*. 1992;258:607-614
- 75. Ono Y, Fujii T, Ogita K, Kikkawa U, Igarashi K, Nishizuka Y. Identification of three additional members of rat protein kinase C family: delta-, epsilon- and zeta-subspecies. *FEBS Lett.* 1987;226:125-128
- Ways DK, Cook PP, Webster C, Parker PJ. Effect of phorbol esters on protein kinase C-zeta. J Biol Chem. 1992;267:4799-4805
- 77. Mellor H, Parker PJ. The extended protein kinase C superfamily. *Biochem J*. 1998;332 (Pt 2):281-292
- Watanabe G, Saito Y, Madaule P, Ishizaki T, Fujisawa K, Morii N, Mukai H, Ono Y, Kakizuka A, Narumiya S. Protein Kinase N (PKN) and PKN-Related Protein Rhophilin as Targets of Small GTPase Rho. *Science*. 1996;271:645-648
- Palmer RH, Ridden J, Parker PJ. Cloning and expression patterns of two members of a novel protein-kinase-C-related kinase family. *Eur J Biochem.* 1995;227:344-351
- Newton AC. Protein Kinase C: Structure, Function, and Regulation. J Biol Chem. 1995;270:28495-28498
- Maiese K, Boniece IR, Skurat K, Wagner JA. Protein kinases modulate the sensitivity of hippocampal neurons to nitric oxide toxicity and anoxia. *J Neurosci Res*. 1993;36:77-87

- Felipo V, Minana MD, Grisolia S. Inhibitors of protein kinase C prevent the toxicity of glutamate in primary neuronal cultures. *Brain Res.* 1993;604:192-196
- 83. Hara H, Onodera H, Yoshidomi M, Matsuda Y, Kogure K. Staurosporine, a novel protein kinase C inhibitor, prevents post-ischemic neuronal damage in the gerbil and rat. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 1990;10:646-653
- Domanska-Janik K, Zalewska T. Effect of brain ischemia on protein kinase C. J Neurochem. 1992;58:1432-1439
- Crumrine RC, Dubyak G, LaManna JC. Decreased protein kinase C activity during cerebral ischemia and after reperfusion in the adult rat. *J Neurochem.* 1990;55:2001-2007
- Hara H, Ayata G, Huang PL, Moskowitz MA. Alteration of protein kinase C activity after transient focal cerebral ischemia in mice using in vitro <sup>3</sup>[H]phorbol-12,13dibutyrate binding autoradiography. *Brain Research*. 1997;774:69-76
- 87. Chen L, Hahn H, Wu G, Chen CH, Liron T, Schechtman D, Cavallaro G, Banci L, Guo Y, Bolli R, Dorn GW, 2nd, Mochly-Rosen D. Opposing cardioprotective actions and parallel hypertrophic effects of delta PKC and epsilon PKC. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2001;98:11114-11119
- 88. Bright R, Mochly-Rosen D. The role of protein kinase C in cerebral ischemic and reperfusion injury. *Stroke*. 2005;36:2781-2790
- Raval AP, Dave KR, Mochly-Rosen D, Sick TJ, Perez-Pinzon MA. epsilon PKC is required for the induction of tolerance by ischemic and NMDA-mediated preconditioning in the organotypic hippocampal slice. *J Neurosci*. 2003;23:384-391
- 90. Reshef A, Sperling O, Zoref-Shani E. The adenosine-induced mechanism for the acquisition of ischemic tolerance in primary rat neuronal cultures. *Pharmacol Ther*. 2000;87:151-159
- 91. Saito N, Shirai Y. Protein Kinase Cgamma (PKCgamma): Function of neuron specific isotype. *J Biochem (Tokyo)*. 2002;132:683-687
- Matsumoto S, Shamloo M, Matsumoto E, Isshiki A, Wieloch T. Protein kinase Cgamma and calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II-alpha are persistently translocated to cell membranes of the rat brain during and after middle cerebral artery occlusion. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2004;24:54-61
- 93. Cardell M, Wieloch T. Time course of the translocation and inhibition of protein kinase C during complete cerebral ischemia in the rat. *J Neurochem*. 1993;61:1308-1314
- Aronowski J, Labiche LA. Perspectives on reperfusion-induced damage in rodent models of experimental focal ischemia and role of gamma-protein kinase C. *Ilar J*. 2003;44:105-109

- 95. Aronowski J, Grotta JC, Strong R, Waxham MN. Interplay between the gamma isoform of PKC and calcineurin in regulation of vulnerability to focal cerebral ischemia. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 2000;20:343-349
- Wang J, Bright R, Mochly-Rosen D, Giffard RG. Cell-specific role for epsilon- and betaI-protein kinase C isozymes in protecting cortical neurons and astrocytes from ischemia-like injury. *Neuropharmacology*. 2004;47:136-145
- Huda R, Vergara LA, Solanki DR, Sherwood ER, Mathru M. Selective activation of protein kinase C delta in human neutrophils following ischemia reperfusion of skeletal muscle. *Shock*. 2004;21:500-504
- Brodie C, Blumberg PM. Regulation of cell apoptosis by protein kinase c delta. Apoptosis. 2003;8:19-27
- Chou WH, Choi DS, Zhang H, Mu D, McMahon T, Kharazia VN, Lowell CA, Ferriero DM, Messing RO. Neutrophil protein kinase Cdelta as a mediator of stroke-reperfusion injury. J Clin Invest. 2004;114:49-56
- 100. Bright R, Raval AP, Dembner JM, Perez-Pinzon MA, Steinberg GK, Yenari MA, Mochly-Rosen D. Protein kinase C delta mediates cerebral reperfusion injury in vivo. J Neurosci. 2004;24:6880-6888
- 101. Boulton TG, Nye SH, Robbins DJ, Ip NY, Radziejewska E, Morgenbesser SD, DePinho RA, Panayotatos N, Cobb MH, Yancopoulos GD. ERKs: a family of proteinserine/threonine kinases that are activated and tyrosine phosphorylated in response to insulin and NGF. *Cell*. 1991;65:663-675
- 102. Raingeaud J, Gupta S, Rogers JS, Dickens M, Han J, Ulevitch RJ, Davis RJ. Proinflammatory cytokines and environmental stress cause p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase activation by dual phosphorylation on tyrosine and threonine. *J Biol Chem.* 1995;270:7420-7426
- 103. Derijard B, Hibi M, Wu IH, Barrett T, Su B, Deng T, Karin M, Davis RJ. JNK1: a protein kinase stimulated by UV light and Ha-Ras that binds and phosphorylates the c-Jun activation domain. *Cell*. 1994;76:1025-1037
- 104. Kyriakis JM, Banerjee P, Nikolakaki E, Dai T, Rubie EA, Ahmad MF, Avruch J, Woodgett JR. The stress-activated protein kinase subfamily of c-Jun kinases. *Nature*. 1994;369:156-160
- Lewis TS, Shapiro PS, Ahn NG. Signal transduction through MAP kinase cascades. Adv Cancer Res. 1998;74:49-139
- 106. Abe J, Kusuhara M, Ulevitch RJ, Berk BC, Lee JD. Big mitogen-activated protein kinase 1 (BMK1) is a redox-sensitive kinase. J Biol Chem. 1996;271:16586-16590
- Kato Y, Tapping RI, Huang S, Watson MH, Ulevitch RJ, Lee JD. Bmk1/Erk5 is required for cell proliferation induced by epidermal growth factor. *Nature*. 1998;395:713-716

- 108. Yan C, Takahashi M, Okuda M, Lee JD, Berk BC. Fluid shear stress stimulates big mitogen-activated protein kinase 1 (BMK1) activity in endothelial cells. Dependence on tyrosine kinases and intracellular calcium. *J Biol Chem.* 1999;274:143-150
- 109. Seger R, Krebs EG. The MAPK signaling cascade. Faseb J. 1995;9:726-735
- 110. Whitmarsh AJ, Shore P, Sharrocks AD, Davis RJ. Integration of MAP kinase signal transduction pathways at the serum response element. *Science*. 1995;269:403-407
- 111. Leppa S, Saffrich R, Ansorge W, Bohmann D. Differential regulation of c-Jun by ERK and JNK during PC12 cell differentiation. *Embo J.* 1998;17:4404-4413
- 112. Irving EA, C. BF, D. RA, J. HS, A. PA. Differential activation of MAPK/ERK and p38/SAPK in neurones and glia following focal cerebral ischaemia in the rat. *Mol Brain Research*. 2000;77:65-75
- 113. Alessandrini A, Namura S, Moskowitz MA, Bonventre JV. MEK1 protein kinase inhibition protects against damage resulting from focal cerebral ischemia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1999;96:12866-12869
- 114. Namura S, Iihara K, Takami S, Nagata I, Kikuchi H, Matsushita K, Moskowitz MA, Bonventre JV, Alessandrini A. Intravenous administration of MEK inhibitor U0126 affords brain protection against forebrain ischemia and focal cerebral ischemia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2001;98:11569-11574
- 115. Hu BR, Liu CL, Park DJ. Alteration of MAP kinase pathways after transient forebrain ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2000;20:1089-1095
- 116. Wu D-C, Ye W, Che X-M, Yang G-Y. Activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases after permanent cerebral artery occlusion in mouse brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2000;20:1320-1330
- 117. Lennmyr F, Karlsson S, Gerwins P, Ata KA, Terent A. Activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases in experimental cerebral ischemia. *Acta Neurol Scand.* 2002;106:333-340
- 118. Walton KM, DiRocco R, Bartlett BA, Koury E, Marcy VR, Jarvis B, Schaefer EM. Activation of p38MAPK in microglia after ischemia. *J Neurochem*. 1998;70:1764-1767
- 119. Barone FC, Irving EA, Ray AM, Lee JC, Kassis S, Kumar S, Badger AM, Legos JJ, Erhardt JA, Ohlstein EH, Hunter AJ, Harrison DC, Philpott K, Smith BR, Adams JL, Parsons AA. Inhibition of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase provides neuroprotection in cerebral focal ischemia. *Med Res Rev.* 2001;21:129-145
- 120. Uddman E, Adner M, Edvinsson L. Protein kinase C inhibitors decrease endothelin ET(B) receptor mRNA expression and contraction during organ culture of rat mesenteric artery. *Eur J Pharmacol*. 2002;452:215-222
- 121. Uddman E, Henriksson M, Eskesen K, Edvinsson L. Role of mitogen-activated protein kinases in endothelin ETB receptor up-regulation after organ culture of rat mesenteric artery. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2003;482:39-47

- 122. Beg SA, Hansen-Schwartz JA, Vikman PJ, Xu CB, Edvinsson LI. ERK1/2 inhibition attenuates cerebral blood flow reduction and abolishes ET(B) and 5-HT(1B) receptor upregulation after subarachnoid hemorrhage in rat. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 2005
- 123. Beg SA, Hansen-Schwartz JA, Vikman PJ, Xu CB, Edvinsson LI. Protein kinase C inhibition blocks upregulation of ETB and 5-HT1B receptors and reverses cerebral blood flow reduction after subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 2006. In press.
- 124. Memezawa H, Minamisawa H, Smith ML, Siesjo BK. Ischemic penumbra in a model of reversible middle cerebral artery occlusion in the rat. *Exp Brain Res.* 1992;89:67-78
- Menzies SA, Hoff JT, Betz AL. Middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats: a neurological and pathological evaluation of a reproducible model. *Neurosurgery*. 1992;31:100-106; discussion 106-107
- 126. Bederson JB, Pitts LH, Tsuji M, Nishimura MC, Davis RL, Bartkowski H. Rat middle cerebral artery occlusion: evaluation of the model and development of a neurologic examination. *Stroke*. 1986;17:472-476
- 127. Högestätt ED, Andersson KE, Edvinsson L. Mechanical properties of rat cerebral arteries as studied by a sensitive device for recording of mechanical activity in isolated small blood vessels. *Acta Physiol Scand.* 1983;117:49-61.
- 128. Mulvany MJ, Halpern W. Contractile properties of small arterial resistance vessels in spontaneously hypertensive and normotensive rats. *Circ Res.* 1977;41:19-26.
- Lodge NJ, Zhang R, Halaka NN, Moreland S. Functional role of endothelin ETA and ETB receptors in venous and arterial smooth muscle. *Eur J Pharmacol*. 1995;287:279-285
- 130. Hansen-Schwartz J, Edvinsson L. Increased sensitivity to ET-1 in rat cerebral arteries following organ culture. *Neuroreport*. 2000;11:649-652.
- 131. Moller S, Adner M, Edvinsson L. Increased levels of endothelin ETB receptor mRNA in human omental arteries after organ culture: quantification by competitive reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol.* 1998;25:788-794.
- 132. Goldberg IH, Friedman PA. Antibiotics and nucleic acids. *Annu Rev Biochem*. 1971;40:775-810
- 133. Abou Elela S, Nazar R. Role of the 5.8S rRNA in ribosome translocation. *Nucl Acids Res.* 1997;25:1788-1794
- Moller S, Edvinsson L, Adner M. Transcriptional regulated plasticity of vascular contractile endothelin ET(B) receptors after organ culture. *Eur J Pharmacol*. 1997;329:69-77.

- 135. Beltman J, McCormick F, Cook SJ. The selective protein kinase C inhibitor, Ro-31-8220, inhibits mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1 (MKP-1) expression, induces c-Jun expression, and activates Jun N-terminal kinase. *J Biol Chem.* 1996;271:27018-27024
- 136. Standaert ML, Bandyopadhyay G, Antwi EK, Farese RV. RO 31-8220 activates c-Jun N-terminal kinase and glycogen synthase in rat adipocytes and L6 myotubes. Comparison to actions of insulin. *Endocrinology*. 1999;140:2145-2151
- Eichholtz T, de Bont DB, de Widt J, Liskamp RM, Ploegh HL. A myristoylated pseudosubstrate peptide, a novel protein kinase C inhibitor. *J Biol Chem.* 1993;268:1982-1986
- 138. Toullec D, Pianetti P, Coste H, Bellevergue P, Grand-Perret T, Ajakane M, Baudet V, Boissin P, Boursier E, Loriolle F, et al. The bisindolylmaleimide GF 109203X is a potent and selective inhibitor of protein kinase C. J Biol Chem. 1991;266:15771-15781
- 139. Martiny-Baron G, Kazanietz MG, Mischak H, Blumberg PM, Kochs G, Hug H, Marme D, Schachtele C. Selective inhibition of protein kinase C isozymes by the indolocarbazole Go 6976. *J Biol Chem.* 1993;268:9194-9197
- 140. Wilkinson SE, Parker PJ, Nixon JS. Isoenzyme specificity of bisindolylmaleimides, selective inhibitors of protein kinase C. *Biochem J*. 1993;294 (Pt 2):335-337
- Uddman E, Moller S, Adner M, Edvinsson L. Cytokines induce increased endothelin ET(B) receptor-mediated contraction. *Eur J Pharmacol*. 1999;376:223-232
- 142. Kolch W, Heidecker G, Kochs G, Hummel R, Vahidi H, Mischak H, Finkenzeller G, Marme D, Rapp UR. Protein kinase Calpha activates RAF-1 by direct phosphorylation. *Nature*. 1993;364:249-252
- 143. Schönwasser DC, Marais RM, Marshall CJ, Parker PJ. Activation of the mitogenactivated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway by conventional, novel, and atypical protein kinase C isotypes. *Mol Cell Biol.* 1998;18:790-798
- 144. Stenman E, Edvinsson L. Cerebral ischemia enhances vascular angiotensin AT1 receptor-mediated contraction in rats. *Stroke*. 2004;35:970-974